0.A.10-01-91

ON WAPP SID WITTE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAVIER H. LONDONO, M.D.,

CHARLES A. WILLIAMS, JR., ESQUIRE,
AND JOHN HOCE,

Petitioners,

CASE NO. 76,765

v.

TURKEY CREEK, INC., a Florida corporation, and NORWOOD W. HOPE,

Respondents.

DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FIRST DISTRICT - NO. 89-2123

ON WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

CASE NUMBER 89-2123

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS ON THE MERITS

SCRUGGS & CARMICHAEL, P.A.
Post Office Prawer C
Gainesville, Florida 32602
(904) 276-5242
Attorneys for Petitioners
BY: John F. Roscow. III
Florida Bar I.D. No. 098580

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioners, JAVIER H. LONDONO, M.D., CHARLES A. WILLIAMS, JR., ESQUIRE, and JOHN HOCE, Defendants/Appellees below, are referred to herein as the "Petitioners", the "threesome", the "Defendants" or are referred to by their last names.

The Respondents, TURKEY CREEK, INC. and NORWOOD W. HOPE, Plaintiffs/Appellants below, are referred to throughout this brief as either "Respondents", "Turkey Creek" ok "Plaintiffs." References to the record are indicated herein by the prefix "R".

The Appendix attached to this brief is referred to as Petitioners' Appendix or "A" and documents are referred to by the tabbed attachment number such as "A-2".

The Petitioners, Londono and Hoce, have authorized the Petitioner, Williams, to file this brief on their behalf as well as Williams. Consequently, in the interest of economy, no separate briefs will be filed by Londono or Hoce, and this brief will be deemed their unified brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Opinion of the District Court of Appeal of Florida, First District, dated 12 September 1990. A copy of that Opinion is attached to the Appendix as A-1. This Court entered its Order Accepting Jurisdiction and Setting Oral Argument on 12 April 1991.

Turkey Creek filed an Amended Complaint in the Circuit Court for the Eighth Judicial Circuit of Florida on 23 January 1987 seeking damages from Williams, Londono and Hoce, on five different causes of action (R-29). By Order of 13 November 1987, the Honorable Benjamin M. Tench granted the Defendants' Motion to Dismiss Count I which stated a cause of action for slander of title (R-54-56); the basis for dismissal was that this cause of action was a compulsory counterclaim which should have been raised in prior litigation between these same parties. A copy of excerpts from the Revised Second Amended Complaint in that prior litigation is attached to the Appendix as A-2.

The trial court also granted summary judgment as to Count II of Turkey Creek's Complaint which stated a cause of action for malicious prosecution (R-54-56); the court's basis for granting that motion was that a cost judgment taxed in Hope's and Turkey Creek's favor as Defendants in **the** prior litigation barred them from bringing a subsequent malicious prosecution action, The Final Judgment in the prior litigation is attached as A-4 to the Appendix and the Final Judgment for Costs is attached as A-5.

Judge Tench's 13 November Order was appealed to the First Di trict (R-57-58). The propriety of that appeal was attacked by the threesome who argued that the remaining counts of the Amended Complaint were so linked to the dismissed counts as to make review premature. By its Order dated March 8, 1988 (R-202), the First District dismissed this first appeal as an unauthorized appeal from a non-final order.

During the pendency of the first appeal, Turkey Creek filed and served a Second Amended Complaint containing counts for intentional interference with contractual rights, intentional interference with an advantageous business relationship, and civil conspiracy (R-59-179). This pleading was attacked by defensive motions (R-180-201), which were for the most part granted by the trial court in its Order filed July 6, 1989 (R-203-209). That Order dismissed with prejudice all remaining counts of the Second Amended Complaint.

Turkey Creek then appealed the August 1989 Order as well as the 1987 Order previously appealed (R-210-211).

The Opinion of the First District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court as to each and every count that Turkey Creek had ever asserted. The Petition for Writ of Certiorari to this Court followed. This Court's grant of certiorari is apparently based on the acknowledged conflict between the First District's Opinion and the holding of the Fourth District in Cypher v. Seqal, 501 So,2d 112 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Statement of the Facts which follows is taken virtually verbatim from the Statement of the Facts presented by Turkey Creek as Appellant, to the First District Court of Appeal. Williams, Londono and Hoce acknowledge that this Statement comports with the <u>allegations</u> contained in the Amended Complaint or the Second Amended Complaint, whichever is applicable. For purposes of this appeal, the threesome will stipulate, as they did in the First District, that the factual allegations contained herein are properly pled and that the conclusions that Turkey Creek has drawn from those factual allegations are logically derived unless otherwise noted in the body of the brief.

Hopefully, this gesture will enable the Court to review the appealed decision without becoming bogged in a morass of bickering over inconsequential factual matters.

Turkey Creek, Inc., is a Florida corporation involved in the business of developing and selling real estate for profit. Norwood W. Hope is the president and majority stockholder of Turkey Creek, Inc. Turkey Creek and Hope developed, and for several years have been selling residential real estate in a planned urban development (hereinafter P.U.D.) called Turkey Creek, situated in Alachua County, Florida. The Respondents are or were residents of the P.U.D. Further, the Respondent, Charles A. Williams, Jr., is an attorney and the Respondent, Javier Londono, is a physician. The Respondent, John Hoce, operates

several corporations involved in various business activities, such as a restaurant and floor cleaning business.

In the course of developing and operating the P.U.D., Turkey several not-for-profit corporations Creek "homeowners associations" to facilitate the administration of the Each such corporation was governed by its "Declaration of Conditions. Restrictions" (hereinafter Covenants, and "Declarations") and its bylaws. Turkey Creek recorded those Declarations in the Public Records of Alachua County, Florida. The recorded Declarations specifically refer to the Homeowners Associations' Bylaws, which were at all times available at Turkey Creek's offices in the P.U.D. for inspection by property owners or prospective purchasers.

By the terms of the Declarations and Bylaws, Turkey Creek retained voting rights in the associations and enjoyed the right to amend the Bylaws from time to time. The Declarations and Bylaws also allowed Turkey Creek to provide to the associations maintenance services and to charge the associations for those services. The associations accrued deficits for these maintenance charges. The threesome challenged, by various methods, each of these rights of Turkey Creek enjoyed under the Declarations and Bylaws.

The means by which the threesome sought to usurp Turkey Creek's rights under the Bylaws and Declarations included knowingly disseminating false and misleading information to the

public regarding the value, vendability, and marketability of land within the P.U.D. by means of billboards, mobile signs, and through the creation of an "owners ad hoc committee", and by misinforming the media. The threesome also gave this false information to the City of Alachua zoning officials and local realtors and real estate attorneys.

Further, the threesome directly contacted and gave similar false information to Owens-Illinois Development Corporation (OIDC), another property owner in the P.U.D., with whom Turkey Creek enjoyed a contract and options worth over four million dollars to Turkey Creek in land sales and development income. The arrangement afforded OIDC a series of options to purchase from Turkey Creek certain lands within the P.U.D. These options were to be exercised in certain phases or sequences. For each option exercised by OIDC, Turkey Creek was given the development rights for the property. This provided Turkey Creek an opportunity to profit in two ways: First, from the sale of its property and second, from the development of the property after it was sold to OIDC.

In 1982, the threesome brought suit challenging Turkey Creek's rights under the Declarations and Bylaws. Turkey Creek prevailed in that prior action and a cost judgment was entered in its favor. As a direct result, however, of the threesome's activities and the negative publicity arising therefrom, OIDC declined to exercise its options with Turkey Creek which repre-

sented a loss to Turkey Creek of over four million dollars.

Accordingly, Turkey Creek initiated the instant action against the threesome. The initial complaint contains separate counts alleging slander of title, malicious prosecution, tortious interference with a contract, tortious interference with an advantageous business relationship, and civil conspiracy. initial complaint was dismissed with leave to amend. Thereafter, the counts alleging slander of title and malicious prosecution were dismissed with prejudice and the remaining counts dismissed with leave to amend. The Defendants then filed additional motions directed to the remaining counts (intentional interference with a contract, intentional interference with an advantageous business relationship, and civil conspiracy) which were granted, with prejudice. The appeal to the First District Court ensued and, as has previously been stated, the trial court was reversed as to all counts,

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I

A private litigant is barred from maintaining a subsequent malicious prosecution action where has has previously elected to tax costs and/or fees after successfully defending the underlying action. This result is premised on the English common law, Cate v. Oldham, 450 So.2d 224 (Fla. 1984) and the interpretation of Cate as it applies to private litigants in Cypher v. Segal, 501 So.2d 112 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987) and its progeny. The contrary holding of the First District in Turkey Creek, Inc. v. Londono, 567 So.2d 943 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) should be rejected.

It is inherently fair to allow a defendant at the successful conclusion of litigation to elect whether or not to accept a cost judgment for his court costs and possible attorney's fees and sanctions or, in the alternative, to waive the assessment of those limited damages and seek a broader range of recovery in a separate malicious prosecution case. To allow two bites at the apple results in situations, one being the Jaye case presently before this Court, where certain attorney's fees are disallowed in the underlying action only to be sought again in the malicious prosecution suit. It encourages judicial efficiency as one hearing resolves all issues. It avoids confusion such as whether or not the issue of attorney's fees, although presented, was ruled upon in the initial action. It prevents splitting causes of action. The election in question is not one of inconsistent remedies but rather of substantive rights - the election, once made, acts as an estoppel or waiver to a malicious prosecution action as well as to the elements of damage which are already res judicata.

ΙI

The trial court correctly ruled that Turkey Creek's claim for slander of title was a compulsory counterclaim in the prior liti-The threesome have agreed with the tests applied by the First District to determine the compulsory nature of the counterclaim but have arrived at different conclusions in applying the law to the stated facts. It is their contention that the litigation, which they filed claiming that Turkey Creek's incessant meddling with the P.U.D.'s Restrictive Covenants, had destroyed the marketability of title to their homes. lawsuit activated in Turkey Creek its claims that the threesome's activities directed against Turkey Creek in seeking redress had slandered the title to Turkey Creek's undeveloped properties remaining in the P.U.D. making those lands unsalable. threesome contend that the decision of the Third District in Bieley v. duPont, Glore, Forgan, Inc., 316 So.2d 66 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975) is directly on point and require claims of defamation, libel, slander and the like to be asserted as compulsory counterclaims.

III and IV

The Petitioners contend that the Second Amended Complaint failed to state a cause of action for tortious interference with contractual rights ox an advantageous business relationship because the complaint facially disclosed the existence of a protected First Amendment constitutional right, the right to petition one's government. When a constitutional right is present, the plaintiff must allege and prove not only that the defendant is acting with malice when his privilege or justification becomes apparent but that, because of the ease of alleging malice, the plaintiff must allege and prove that the privilege or justification revealed was but a sham to cover the defendant's true intention which was solely to injure the other party. To impose a lesser standard is to chill First Amendment rights.

Should this Court believe, however, that the complaint's allegations are sufficient, the Court should correct the holding of the First District that Turkey Creek is a private litigant and not a governmental or quasi-governmental authority. Petitioners have not yet pled to the complaint and such a holding forecloses them from pleading and proving that Turkey Creek is indeed a governmental entity and hence the standard of proof that they contend for should be applied at trial.

V

The Second Amended Complaint failed to state a cause of action far the independent tort of conspiracy and its dismissal

with prejudice was proper. There are two types of conspiracy in Florida: The first is where two or more conspire to commit an independent wrong or tort which would constitute a cause of action if the wrong was done by one person. If any of the first four counts stated a cause of action, then a conspiracy action of this type would admittedly stand. The second type of conspiracy recognized in Florida is an independent tort, some times referred to as an economic boycott. This conspiracy arises where the conduct complained of would not be actionable if done by one person but if, by reason of force of numbers of other exceptional circumstances, the defendants possessed some peculiar power of coercion over plaintiff, then this independent tort arises. stature of these Defendants in the economic community is such that their concerted actions could never give rise to the independent tort of conspiracy.

ARGUMENT

POINT 1

A PRIVATE LITIGANT IS BARRED FROM MAINTAINING A SUBSEQUENT MALICIOUS PROSECUTION ACTION WHERE HE HAS PREVIOUSLY ELECTED TO TAX COSTS AND/OR FEES AFTER SUCCESSFULLY DEFENDING THE UNDERLYING ACTION.

In <u>Cate v. Oldham</u>, **450** So.2d **224** (Fla. 1984), the issue posed was whether, under the common law of Florida, a state official, who had been sued in his official capacity for alleged negligence in the exercise of his official duties, could maintain an action for malicious prosecution against the unsuccessful plaintiffs in the negligence action. The answer was no. The rationale behind the decision was two-fold:

- (1) There is no historical basis for a state officer to retaliate with a malicious prosecution action when he has been sued in his official capacity and, additionally, such an action would be constitutionally suspect as it would chill the right of an individual to petition and seek redress from his government; further, and separately,
- (2) At common law, a successful defendant can either tax costs and fees in the original action, or he could sue for malicious prosecution, but he could not do both.

Thus, not only is a government official sued in his governmental capacity barred from filing a retaliatory suit by historical and constitutional limitations, but the true gravamen of Cate is that regardless of the first set of limitations, Oldham could

not have maintained a malicious prosecution action against Cate because he had already sought a cost judgment in the initial case. The key verbage is:

At common law successful defendants could either tax costs and fees in the original action, or they could sue for malicious prosecution on the basis of those losses; they could not do both. Parker v. Langley, 93 Eng. Rep. at 297. There being no Florida decision or statute to the contrary, the common law rule precludes such an attempt at double recovery here. Id. at 227.

This court went on to state that a government official sued only in his official capacity, and from whom no relief was sought that would run against his personal finances, could claim no greater right to seek greater sanctions. No greater right than who? The obvious answer is that the government official has no greater right than a private individual to maintain a malicious prosecution action after already taxing fees and costs in the original action.

As if the law was not perfectly clear after <u>Cate</u>, the District Court of Appeal in <u>Cypher v. Segal</u>, 501 So.2d 112 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987), specifically addressed the issue as it pertained to a government official in his <u>individual</u> capacity. Cypher, a police officer, together with his employer, the Town of Palm Beach, caused Segal's arrest and subsequent unsuccessful criminal prosecution. Segal, in retaliation, was equally unsuccessful in suing Cypher and the Town of Palm Beach for malicious prosecution.

Cypher, keeping the judiciary busy, then brought his own malicious prosecution action against Segal which terminated unsuccessfully when summary judgment was entered by the trial court in Segal's favor. In granting the summary judgment, the trial court reasoned that as the town attorney sought costs in Segal's malicious prosecution action (ostensibly for the town and Cypher although the town had borne all of the costs), then Cypher had elected his remedy; regardless of the issue as to whether Cypher had been sued only in his official capacity, he was barred from bringing the malicious prosecution action. The trial judge also found that Cypher was sued in the first action only in his "official capacity" thus barring the suit under the first rationale of Cate.

The issue with which the Appellate Court was confronted was:

Assuming that Segal had sued Cypher in his individual capacity in the first action, ••• whether the defendant's election to tax costs in that case is a defense in this one.

The court noted that although no motion to tax costs was filed in the initial action, the order taxing costs was included in the final judgment. Cypher argued that he should not be bound by the fortuitous fact that the town's attorney included his name in the initial cost judgment awarding reimbursement for the town's expenses, but the record lent no support to the argument that the inclusion was accidental. Cypher, like Turkey Creek here, also

claimed that the mere fact that costs were sought in the initial case was not an election as to the damages which he now sought, damages which were unavailable in the first case, Those additional claims included damage to his reputation and for pain and suffering from his exposure to financial loss caused by the punitive damage claim asserted against him. Turkey Creek's additional claims include four million dollars that it contends it has in damages.

Nevertheless, we conclude that the appellant had a choice at the conclusion of the initial suit to pursue an independent cause of action or to obtain more limited relief by way of seeking a cost judgment in that case. Once such an election was made and the judgment entered thereon, the appellant was barred from seeking additional damages, Id. at 114.

The court **is** talking about Cypher in his individual capacity because in his governmental capacity, he, under <u>Cate v. Oldham</u>, <u>supra</u>, would have had no such election and would have been confined solely to recovering a cost judgment. The Appellate Court's version of the above conclusion was:

In summary, we conclude that the trial court did not err in determining that the appellant was barred, by taxing costs in the initial suit, from instituting a separate action for additional damages, regardless of whether or not he had been sued in his official capacity in the first instance; therefore, we affirm. Id.

Subsequent to <u>Cypher</u>, **the** Fourth District Court of Appeal has, in both <u>Riverbend Marine</u>, <u>Inc. v. Sailing Associates</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 539 So.2d 507 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) and <u>Jave v. Royal Saxon</u>, <u>Inc.</u>,

573 So.2d 425 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), two cases involving only private parties as litigants, reasserted the rationale of Cate and Cypher which bars a private litigant from bringing a subsequent action for malicious prosecution where the plaintiff has previously elected to tax costs and/or fees after successfully defending the underlying action. The Fourth District noted that the First District, in Turkey Creek, Inc. v. Londono, 567 So.2d 943 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), disagreed with its interpretation of the Cate language and, consequently, certified the issue to the Supreme Court as one of great public importance.

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