O.A. 10-1-91

007

SID . WHITE

SID . WHITE

1991

CLERK SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAVIER H. LONDONO, M.D., CHARLES A. WILLIAMS, JR., ESQUIRE, AND JOHN HOCE,

Petitioners,

vs.

TURKEY CREEK, INC., a Florida corporation, and NORWOOD W. HOPE,

Respondents.

**CASE NO.:** 76,765

DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FIRST DISTRICT

**CASE NO.:** 89-2123

ON WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

**CASE NUMBER:** 89-2123

\*

RESPONDENTS' AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF

\*

MICHAEL W. JONES, P.A. MICHAEL W. JONES, P.A. MCHAEL W. JONES JONES 4056 Relige Box 90099
Antheligher Typromida 32607

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

Any legal analysis should begin with this court's opinion in Cate v. Oldham, 450 So.2d 224 (Fla. 1984). This is the operative part:

At common law successful defendants could either tax costs and fees in the original action, or they could sue for malicious prosecution upon the basis of those losses; they could not do both. Parker v. Langley, 93 Eng. Rep. at 297. There being no Florida decision or statute to the contrary, the common law table procludes such an attempt at double recover here Id. at 227.

It thus follows that when the malicious prosecution action does not attempt a recovery duplicative of the cost judgment, it should be permitted. Parker v. Langley, supra., in language not readily decipherable by this (fill).

I know not whether these actions have not in some measure been allowed upon the reason of the statute of 8 Eliz. C. 2, so that what that Act declares to be injustice and vexatiaus, and orders a judgment to be given for costs and damages thereupon, should afterwards be likewise in those cases at the election of the party, or in other like cases to be the foundation of an action upon the case to recover damages ... Id at 297. (emphasis added).

Apparently the successful English defendant had the option, in the initial lawsuit, to recover from the unsuccessful plaintiff his damages, fees, and costs. Should he so elect, he would be barred from seeking further recovery in an independent lawsuit. Justice Atkins, writing far the majority in <a href="Cate">Cate</a>, seemed to speak to this point by noting the successful common law defendant's option to "tax costs and fees" at the conclusion of the initial lawsuit. The breadth of this recovery, which included defense attorneys' fees, justifies the election.

But in the instant case, the cost judgment was inadequate to satisfy the respondents' damages incurred by the first lawsuit. The cost judgment taxed costs of \$5,611.50; the respondents suffered damages from the malicious pursuit of the first lawsuit which exceed \$4,000,000. The respondents incurred defense attorneys' fees which exceeded \$100,000; none were taxed against the losing threesome. Nowhere in this scenario is there a risk of double recovery.

Three decisions steadily narrowed the scope of relief available to a wrongfully prosecuted defendant. In Parker, the successful defendant could recover in the initial action not only his costs and fees but his damages. Cate did not mention damages, but suggested that the opportunity to tax prevailing defendant's fees and costs was an adequate remedy. The Fourth District Court of Appeal, in Cypher v. Segal, So.2d 112 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987), held that the recovery of a cost judgment alone adequately vindicated the wronged defendant and terminated his right seek full compensation, without to considering the cost of representation or consequential damages.

Constricting the potential recovery of wronged defendants, and limiting their access to judicial relief, runs counter to the rationale behind this cause of action.

Malicious prosecution as an action at common law was to protect the <u>individual</u> from unjustifiable litigation in the protection of the interest of (1) damage to reputation, (2) putting in jeopardy life, limb or liberty, and (3) **damage** to property, as for example expenditure of money to defend oneself of criminal charges. Cate v. Oldham, supra., at 227 (emphasis supplied), quoting Board of Education v. Marting, 217 N.E.2d at 217 (citations omitted).

Realistically, the award of costs in Florida is almost a ministerial act. The parties appear before the trial court with

a myriad of affidavits, court reporter bills, expert witness fee statements and the like. After a perfunctory hearing, costs are awarded and included in the judgment purely **as** a function of winning. Inquiry into the motives of the losing plaintiff, or the impact of the litigation on the prevailing defendant, is nonexistent.

The recovery of compensatory damages, which may include attorneys' fees, typically requires a massively greater effort: the successful prosecution of a malicious prosecution lawsuit. It is unfair to require the wronged defendant to waive the certainty of a cost judgment for the vagaries of another lawsuit, in order to recover his taxable costs. This is particularly true when there is no risk of double recovery. The malicious losing plaintiff, soon to be a defendant, could assert the collateral source rule, the affirmative defense of setoff, res judicata, or other technical objections to prevent a double recovery of the costs. But he should not be able to shield himself from a \$4,000,000 tort claim behind a \$5,600 cost judgment.

The limitation imposed by <u>Cypher</u> eviscerates the malicious prosecution cause of action. Taxable costs are recoverable purely as a function of winning the lawsuit. The broader spectrum of compensatory and punitive damages is available only

to the successful defendant who can meet the stringent burden of proving the requisite elements of malicious prosecution.

A view from another angle may be helpful. To truly be a double recovery, the taxable costs must be identical in nature and amount to the damages caused by the litigation. Thus, in the instant case, to be an impermissible double recovery the \$5,611.50 cost judgment must represent the full measure of damages caused TURKEY CREEK, INC., and HOPE by the threesome's malicious prosecution of the first lawsuit. Although a concededly stretched analogy, this is akin to barring an injured plaintiff from pursuing a tort claim because his medical bills were paid by his no-fault insurer.

The "two bites at the apple" argument raised by the petitioners (I.B. 16-18) is initially compelling but ultimately misplaced. It is incorrect to equate, as petitioners try to do, the award of attorneys' fees in a post-trial order, with the inclusion of attorneys' fees as an element of damages in a malicious prosecution lawsuit. The former award is made under the terms of the applicable statute or contract provision; the latter is included in the overall calculation of damages caused by one's adversary's malicious prosecution. This imposes on the the defendant/non-plaintiff a much greater burden.

Far example, suppose a successful defendant moves a trial Court for an award of attorneys' fees against the plaintiff pursuant to Section 57.105, Florida Statutes (1989), arguing that the claim was frivolous. Suppose further that the motion is denied because the judge finds that the plaintiff's claim Presented at least a justiciable issue of fact or law. suppose that the defendant can prove that the plaintiff maliciously and wrongfully sued him and that the lawsuit cost him his job, his marriage and his social standing. In this scenario, the instant petitioners would argue that the unsuccessful effort to prove legal frivolity (the 57.105 motion) constituted the damaged defendant's only bite at the apple, and that he is forever out of court. Parenthetically, this is what happened in the instant case during the first litigation. TURKEY CREEK, INC.'S motion was made pursuant to Section 57.105, Elorida Statutes (1983) and was aimed at only a portion of the complaint. It was denied by the trial court (A.B. App. 1 and 2).

Inverting the hypothesis, assume that the trial court granted the Section 57.105 motion (and was affirmed on appeal). No one would argue that the finding of frivolity equalled a finding of malice; surely one can be stupid without being mean. The point is, attorneys fees are awarded under a different standard than damages in a malicious prosecution suit.

Pope v. Pol·lock, 21 N.E. 356 (Ohio 1889), is a very helpful opinion, partially distinguishing Parker v. Langley, supra. There, the plaintiff leased a dwelling from the defendant. For some reason, the defendant began a pattern of judicial harassment, suing the tenant in repeated actions for forcible detainer, to recover the premises, etc. The tenant won each of the lawsuits, and then sued the landlord for malicious prosecution.

In its opinion, the Oh.o Supreme Court noted the history of allowing suits when the victim had been wrongfully prosecuted in criminal matters. It then outlined the theories behind various jurisdictions allowing and not allowing the actions in response to civil actions.

Where such suits have been maintained, the right has been placed upon the ground that taxable costs, including, as in most states, but the fees of witnesses and officers of court, afford a very partial and inadequate remuneration €or the necessary expenses of defending an unfounded suit, and no remedy at all to repair the injury received.

\* \* \*

It is a wrong to disturb one's property or peace; and to prosecute one maliciously and without probable cause, is to do that person a wrong. The common law declares that for every injury there is a remedy, and to deny remedy in such case would violate this wholesome principle. The burden of establishing both malice and want of probable cause will prove a sufficient check to reckless suits of this character.

\* \* \*

In England the taxed costs which may be awarded to a successful defendant include not only fees of court officers and witness, but attorney's charges for preparing the case for trial, and the honorarium of the barrister who tries it, and in a number of American states a like taxation of casts prevails. But in Ohio the successful party in an ordinary action recovers only the fees of witnesses and court officers, leaving his own personal expenses in preparing the case, in attending the trial, and his attorney's fees for trial, to be paid preparation and for Taxed costs are not here regarded as reimbursement. affording full compensation for expenses incurred, for in cases where damages may be recovered for malicious injury, fees of counsel, as well as court costs, are included in compensatory, and not punitive, damages. The reason for the rule having failed, there is much ground for saying that the rule itself fails.

In short, the malicious prosecution cause of action has two admirable policy goals: to compensate a person wrongfully sued for all his damages, and to deter malicious use of the court system. The latter objective is buttressed by the availability of punitive damages, another tool of deterrence. Barring a private defendant, who has taxed costs against an unsuccessful plaintiff, from bringing the action would frustrate these policy objectives. There would be only minuscule compensation, and there would be no deterrence.

The plaintiffs' claim for malicious prosecution should be reinstated.

### THAT THE APPELLANTS' CLAIM FOR SLANDER OF TITLE WAS A COMPULSORY COUNTERCLAIM.

Compulsory counterclaims are governed by Rule 1.170(a), Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, which provides in pertinent part:

"A pleading shall state as a counterclaim any claim which at the time of serving the pleading the pleader has against any opposing party, provided it arises out of the transaction or occurrence that is the subject matter of the opposing party's claim and does not require for its adjudication the presence of third parties over whom the court. cannot acquire jurisdiction..."

The transactions and occurrences which were the subject of the appellees' prior claims were centered around the appellants' management of the P.U.D. Specifically, the appellees challenged the appellants' amendment of the homeowners associations' by-laws declarations, and the appellants' administration and development of the P.U.D. and the homeowners associations. However, the methods by which the appellants administered and developed the P.U.D. did not give rise to the appellants' claim for slander of title. The facts, transactions and occurrences which gave rise to the appellants' claim for slander of title concerned the appellees' activities, before, during, and after

the appellees' suit seeking a declaratory judgment. This Court is presented with two separate controversies. Although the parties are the same, and although some overlap exists in the time period during which these separate controversies occurred, each arises from distinct, unrelated facts, and they are unrelated claims.

The appellees filed their complaint for declaratory judgment on or about March 30, 1982. By that time they had maliciously publicized false information about the appellants and appellants' land within the P.U.D. However, the appellees continued those publications far beyond that time, resulting in the appellants' loss of a \$4,000,000 project with OIDC in May 1984. The appellees accomplished this by posting large signs and hillboards with false and defamatory information, by mailing out a false and defamatory "survey" to local real estate attorneys, by lying to zoning officials, and to OIDC, and by organizing and beginning their conspiracy to wrongfully induce the appellants to disregard the various rights and obligations in the by-laws and declarations. These activities gave rise to the appellants' claim for slander of title of their land within the P.U.D.

However, none of the methods by which the appellees effected their malicious publication had anything to do with the transactions and occurrences which formed the basis of the

appellees' lawsuit against the appellants. That lawsuit sought a declaratory judgment as to the various methods by which the appellants managed and administered the P.U.D., far example by retaining voting rights, assessing maintenance costs through homeowners associations, and amending the by-laws of the homeowners associations.

The tests applied in determining whether a counterclaim is a compulsory one include the following inquiries: (1) are issues of fact and law raised by the claim and counterclaim largely the same; (2) will substantially the same evidence support or refute plaintiff's claim as well as defendant's counterclaim; (3) would the doctrine of res judicata bar the counterclaim if it is asserted subsequent to the action; and (4) is, there a logical relation between the claims? Rudner v. Cabrera, 455 So.2d 1093 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984); Bratcher v. Wronkowski, 417 So.2d 1132 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982); City of Mascotte v. Florida Municipal Liability Self Insurers Program, 444 So.2d 965 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984).

The answer to each of those inquiries in the instant case is negative. First, whereas the appellees' original claim sought a judgment declaring the validity of amendments to the restrictive covenants, appellants' instant claim seeks monetary damages for the appellees' tortious conduct, including the various means by which they published false and defamatory messages about the

appellants and the P.U.D. The fact that some of the methods used by the appellees to wrongfully seek their goals gave the appellants a cause of action does not sufficiently relate the controversies, because those tortious methods were not in any way issue in the appellees' original lawsuit against the In that prior lawsuit, only restrictive covenant appellants. amendments, voting rights, and assessments were in issue. Further, the appellants' tortiaus conduct had nothing to do with the validity of the declarations, or vice versa. The two involve distinct theories of lawsuits law, seek distinct remedies, and are based on distinct facts. Accordingly, the claim and counterclaim do not involve issues of fact and law which are substantially the same. Under the first test, the instant claim is not a compulsory counterclaim.

Second, while some pieces of evidence, such as the content of the restrictive covenants and by-laws of the homeowners associations, may be relevant to both lawsuits, the vase weight of the evidence in the appellants' claim below is wholly irrelevant to the appellees' prior action. In their claim for slander of title, the appellants will produce evidence of appellees' malicious publication of false information. Little or none of that was relevant to, nor was any of that evidence introduced in, the appellees' prior action, because it simply

did not support or refute the issues in the prior action, to wit whether appellants were entitled to employ certain methods to develop, manage and administer the P.U.D. Therefore, the appellees fail to pass the second test for holding that the appellants count for slander of title is a compulsory counterclaim.

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